

Rho GTPases in osteoclasts: Orchestrators of podosome arrangement

Stéphane Ory, Hélène Brazier, Géraldine Pawlak, Anne Blangy

► To cite this version:

Stéphane Ory, Hélène Brazier, Géraldine Pawlak, Anne Blangy. Rho GTPases in osteoclasts: Orchestrators of podosome arrangement. European Journal of Cell Biology, 2008, 87 (8-9), pp.469-477. 10.1016/j.ejcb.2008.03.002 . hal-02323478v1

HAL Id: hal-02323478 https://hal.science/hal-02323478v1

Submitted on 18 Jul 2008 (v1), last revised 22 Oct 2019 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Manuscript

Rho GTPases in osteoclasts: orchestrators of podosome arrangement

Stéphane Ory^{1,§,*}, Hélène Brazier¹, Géraldine Pawlak^{1,2} and Anne Blangy^{1,*}

¹Centre de Recherche de Biochimie Macromoléculaire, UM2, CNRS, Montpellier, France

² Institut Albert Bonniot, UJF, INSERM U823, Grenoble, France

§: present address: Institut des Neurosciences Cellulaires et Intégratives, ULP, CNRS, Strasbourg, France

* corresponding authors :

anne.blangy@crbm.cnrs.fr

ory@neurochem.u-strasbg.fr

Address: Stéphane Ory, PhD Institut des Neurosciences Cellulaires et Integratives ULP CNRS UMR7168 Département Neurotransmission et Sécrétion Neuroendocrine 5 rue Blaise Pascal 67 084 Strasbourg cedex France phone : 33 (0) 388 456 680 fax : 33 (0) 388 601 664

Abstract

Cells from the myeloid lineage, namely macrophages, dendritic cells and osteoclasts develop podosomes instead of stress fibers and focal adhesions to adhere and migrate. Podosomes share many components with focal adhesions but differ in their molecular organization, with a dense core of polymerized actin surrounded by scaffolding proteins, kinases and integrins. Podosomes are found either isolated both in macrophages and dendritic cells or arranged into superstructures in osteoclasts. When osteoclasts resorb bone, they form an F-actin rich sealing zone, which is a dense array of connected podosomes that firmly anchors osteoclasts to bone. It delineates a compartment in which protons and proteases are secreted to dissolve and degrade the mineralized matrix. Since Rho GTPases have been shown to control F-actin stress fibers and focal adhesions in mesenchymal cells, the question of whether they could also control podosome formation and arrangement in cells from the myeloid lineage, and particularly in osteoclasts, rapidly emerged. This article considers recent advances made in our understanding of podosome arrangements in osteoclasts and how Rho GTPases may control it.

Keywords: osteoclast, podosome, Rho GTPases, RhoU, Wrch-1, WASP, sealing zone

Contents

Introduction	.4
Podosomes as structural units of osteoclast adhesions	.5
Rho GTPases control podosome arrangement in osteoclasts	.6
What else beyond RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 in osteoclasts?	.7
Rho GTPase signaling and osteoclast adhesion	.8
WASp, a Cdc42 effector and a key organizer of podosomes1	0
Exchange factors and osteoclast biology1	1
Concluding remarks1	3
Acknowledgments1	4
References	5

Introduction

Rho family GTPases belong to the Ras superfamily of small GTP-binding proteins. Like Ras, they are activated by guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEF) that catalyze exchange of GDP into GTP. Once bound to GTP, RhoGTPases adopt an active conformation to bind effectors that will transduce downstream signals. Small GTPases return in their inactive state by hydrolyzing GTP into GDP. Small GTP-binding proteins have limited intrinsic GTPase activity but GTPase activating proteins (GAP) accelerate GTP hydrolyzation rate leading to an inactive, GDP-bound GTPase. RhoGTPases are thus considered as molecular switches that need to be tightly regulated to ensure regular cell functions.

Rho GTPases are now well known to control F-actin and adhesion structure organization (for reviews, see Burridge and Wennerberg, 2004; Fukata et al., 2003). The current paradigm states that activation of RhoA induces stress fibers and focal adhesion assembly, whereas active Rac1 promotes lamellipodium and focal complexes formation and active Cdc42 induces actin polymerization to form thin protrusions named filopodia. Spatiotemporally coordinated activation of RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 is required for effective cell migration. Most studies have addressed the functions of Rho GTPases in cells developing F-actin stress fibers and focal adhesions. However, cells from the myeloid lineage namely macrophages, dendritic cells and osteoclasts develop podosomes to adhere and migrate and less is known about Rho GTPases function on podosomes. Podosomes are constitutive of cells from the myeloid lineage, but they have now been described in various cell types and they can be induced in response to growth factors, chemicals or expression of oncogenes (for review, see Linder and Aepfelbacher, 2003). Interestingly, although podosomes are the major F-actin structures found in macrophages and dendritic cells, only in osteoclasts podosomes can organize into superstructures referred to as podosome belt and sealing zone.

In this review, we describe the recent advances made in our understanding of podosome organization in osteoclasts and how Rho GTPases may control it. For clarity reason, we will use the term Rho GTPases when we will refer to the entire family of proteins and the term RhoA when we will describe the function of RhoA, B or C even if tools used in most studies do not allow discrimination between these three members.

Podosomes as structural units of osteoclast adhesions

Podosomes have been first described in cells transformed by the Rous Sarcoma Virus and referred to as electron-dense protrusions of the ventral plasma membrane of Srctransformed cells (David-Pfeuty and Singer, 1980; Tarone et al., 1985). Podosomes were then described as major adhesion structures found in monocytes and osteoclasts (Marchisio et al., 1984). They are formed by a F-actin core surrounded by a ring of scaffolding proteins such as vinculin, paxillin or talin. Interference-reflection microscopy indicated that the ring is in close proximity to the substratum suggesting that it mediates cell adhesive property (Marchisio et al., 1984). In agreement with that observation, integrins are localized at the ring and excluded from the core.

Although podosomes can be induced by cytokines, oncogenes or chemicals in many cell types, they constitutively form in cells from the myeloid lineage (for review see Linder, 2007). Osteoclasts possess unique podosomal organization since podosomes can assemble into superstuctures which consist of different kinds of podosome arrangements. Osteoclasts seeded on glass develop podosomes that are first grouped into clusters, which assemble into small podosome rings and eventually into a podosome belt. The frequency of podosome belt formation increases when osteoclasts are maintained in culture leading to the notion that changes in podosome arrangements are the result of maturation, starting from podosome clusters and evolving towards podosome belt (Destaing et al., 2003). When seeded on bone or bone-like substrate (hydoxyapatite-embedded collagen), osteoclasts polarize and develop a large and dense F-actin ring, called the sealing zone. It delineates a compartment in which osteoclasts secrete protons and proteases to dissolve and degrade the mineralized matrix. The sealing zone also mediates strong anchorage to the bone. In this structure, individual podosomes can not be distinguished by classical fluorescence microscopy raising the question of whether indeed all osteoclast adhesion structures evolve from a single substructure, the podosome (Saltel et al., 2004, reviewed in Jurdic et al., 2006). Recently, high resolution scanning electron microscopy combined with fluorescence microscopy unambiguously showed that the sealing zone constitutes densely interconnected arrays of podosome cores. Podosomes consist of bundled F-actin that forms a core to which radial actin fibers are connected, referred to as the F-actin cloud by Destaing et al. (2003). The density of podosome cores and the degree of inter-connectivity of radial fibers increases between each superstructures, being minimal in podosome clusters and maximal in the sealing zone (Luxenburg et al., 2007).

Therefore, the podosome appears to be the structural unit of F-actin structures found in osteoclasts and the degree of podosome "compaction" gives rise to different superstructures (Fig.1).

Rho GTPases control podosome arrangement in osteoclasts

In fibroblastic cell lines, activation of RhoA, Rac1 or Cdc42 induces the formation of specific F-actin and adhesion structures (for review, see Raftopoulou and Hall, 2004). The question then arose whether a specific Rho GTPase could control podosome formation.

The use of bacterial toxins known to inhibit Rho GTPases (for review see Aktories and Barbieri, 2005) has brought the first evidences that their activity was required for maintaining podosome organization. Treatment of osteoclasts with the exoenzyme C3 of *Clostridium botulinum*, which inhibits RhoA, RhoB and RhoC, blocks the resorbing activity of osteoclasts by disrupting the sealing zone (Zhang et al., 1995). In macrophage polykaryons, exoenzyme C3 causes cells to spread out and podosomes to disappear (Ory et al., 2000). Conversely, activation of RhoA can not induce podosome formation. Podosomes rather disappear or are redistributed away from the cell periphery when activated RhoA is microinjected or when RhoA is activated by osteopontin (Ory et al., 2000; Chellaiah et al., 2000).

Nonetheless, recent studies support a crucial function of RhoA in controlling podosome arrangement in osteoclast. Osteoclasts seeded on bone-like substrates devevelop an F-actinrich sealing zone and adopt a polarized morphology by being thicker and less spread out than osteoclasts maintained on glass. This is correlated with high basal RhoA activity. When RhoA is inhibited, the sealing zone is disrupted. Instead, a podosome belt, a superstructure rarely seen in osteoclasts maintained on bone, is formed (Saltel et al., 2004). These observations suggest that RhoA may control sealing zone formation and that optimal RhoA activation is obtained when osteoclasts are seeded on bone. On the other hand, it also indicates that the podosome belt is formed when RhoA activation is minimal (Fig.1). Experiments with osteoclasts maintained on glass show that podosome belt formation is indeed accelerated when RhoA is inhibited (Destaing et al., 2005). It would thus be expected that RhoA activation would trigger sealing zone formation. However, microinjection of active RhoA is not sufficient to form a sealing zone in osteoclasts seeded on glass. Instead, the podosome belt is disrupted and podosome rings and clusters are formed (Ory et al., 2000; Destaing et al., 2005). Hence, RhoA activation is not sufficient by itself to promote sealing zone formation in the absence of signals emanating from the mineralized extracellular matrix.

Although much less is know concerning Rac1 and Cdc42 in the control of podosome formation, macrophage polykaryons also have disorganized podosomes when activated or dominant negative Rac1 are microinjected (Ory et al., 2000). In addition, expression of activated Cdc42 leads to podosome and podosome belt disruption in macrophages and osteoclasts respectively (Linder et al., 1999, Chellaiah, 2005).

Thus, unlike F-actin and adhesion structures in mesenchymal cells, activation of neither RhoA, Rac or Cdc42 can induce podosome assembly in cells from the myeloid lineage. But modulating their activities clearly impinges on podosome organization.

What else beyond RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 in osteoclasts?

The Rho family GTPases is composed of 20 members (Boureux et al., 2007). Most studies have addressed the function of RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 on F-actin organization and cell adhesion. Since these GTPases can not induce podosome formation but rather regulate their arrangement, we attempted to get a better picture of which Rho GTPases are expressed in osteoclasts. Using quantitative PCR analysis, we established the expression profile during the differentiation process of osteoclasts of 18 Rho GTPases. RhoBTBs were excluded to restrict the study to the low molecular weight Rho GTPases. Interestingly, among the 18 GTPases, only RhoU/Wrch-1 was upregulated whereas other Rho GTPases were either not expressed (RhoH, TCL/RhoJ, Rac3, RhoD, Rnd3) or expressed at constant levels (Brazier et al., 2006). RhoU is related to Rac and Cdc42 and like them, it binds and activates PAK1. But RhoU possesses additional domains at its N- and C-termini: RhoU N-terminal extension is involved in binding to SH3-containing proteins such as Nck1 and Grb2 (Saras et al., 2004; Shutes et al., 2004) whereas the C-terminal extension participates to the correct subcellular localization of RhoU (Ory et al., 2007). Its subcellular localization is also in part driven by the addition of palmitoyl motif rather than a prenyl group, which is usually added on the CAAX box of Rho GTPases (Berzat et al., 2005). The palmitoylation localizes RhoU to endomembranes that partially colocalize with endosomes (Berzat et al., 2005).

When we overexpressed RhoU in osteoclasts, we found that it localizes to the podosome belt of osteoclasts seeded on glass, around the actin core of individual podosomes and to the sealing zone of osteoclasts seeded on bone-like substrate. This localization is dependent on the ability of RhoU to bind to effectors since a RhoU mutant unable to bind the Cdc42/Rac interaction domain of PAK is only found on vesicles (Ory et al., 2007; HB, unpublished data). Like many components of podosomes, RhoU is also found in focal

adhesions where it alters their dynamics and, in consequence, the migration rate of fibroblasts (Ory et al., 2007; Chuang et al., 2007). The C-terminal extension of RhoU and residues critical for effector binding are required for targeting RhoU to focal adhesions (Ory et al., 2007). Whether RhoU affects podosome organization of osteoclasts remains to be addressed but the fact that RhoU may activate the RhoA pathway (Saras et al., 2004) and localizes to osteoclast podosomes (Ory et al., 2007) identifies it as an attractive candidate for the control of podosome arrangement in osteoclasts.

Effectors recruited and activated by RhoU still need to be identified. In vitro, RhoU can interact with and activate proteins from the p21-activated kinase (PAK) family. Nothing is known about the function of PAK proteins in osteoclasts, but a recent study shed light on their potential role in the control of podosome formation in macrophages. PAK4 localizes to podosome cores in macrophages. In these cells, PAK4 kinase activity regulates the size of individual podosomes suggesting that PAK4 activity may interfere with F-actin polymerization. In addition, PAK4 mutants impaired in GTPase binding diminish the number of podosome per cell (Gringel et al., 2006). Since Rho GTPases affect PAK4 localization rather than its activity (Abo et al., 1998), it suggests that Rho GTPases may act to correctly localize PAK proteins to podosome in order to modulate their dynamic and organization.

Rho GTPase signaling and osteoclast adhesion

Integrins are extracellular matrix receptors that activate signaling pathways upon ligand binding. The major integrin found in osteoclasts is $\alpha_v\beta_3$, a ligand for vitronectin and osteopontin. Mice in which the β_3 gene has been deleted present a mild osteosclerotic phenotype due to osteoclast defects (McHugh et al., 2000). This may be a consequence of impaired osteoclast migration and reduced activation of Rho GTPases in response to growth factors. Indeed, macrophage stimulating factor (M-CSF) or hepatocyte growth factor (HGH) induces cytoskeletal remodeling of osteoclast by activating both RhoA and Rac proteins. As a consequence, osteoclast migration is increased (Faccio et al., 2003). In β_3 -/- osteoclasts, RhoA and Rac activation is impaired and osteoclast migration in response to M-CSF or HGF is defective. Reexpression of full length β_3 integrin restores both migration and Rho GTPases activation, whereas a mutant β_3 integrin lacking the C-terminal domain or bearing a Ser752 to Pro mutation does not (Faccio et al., 2003). It shows that RhoA and Rac are activated downstream of β_3 integrin and that this is essential for osteoclast migration and function.

In addition, β_3 integrin binds to Src and Pyk2 (Pfaff and Jurdic, 2001; Butler and Blystone, 2005; Ross and Teitelbaum, 2005), two tyrosine kinases critical for osteoclast biology, which may also regulate the function of Rho GTPases. Src and Pyk2 (a tyrosine kinase highly expressed in osteoclasts and related to the focal adhesion kinase FAK) ensure normal podosome assembly and disassembly cycle when osteoclasts adhere (Duong et al., 1998; Sanjay et al., 2001). Src null mice have a severe osteopetrotic phenotype (Soriano et al., 1991). Osteoclasts can not form a sealing zone and podosomes in Src -/- osteoclasts are less dynamics and structurally disorganized (Destaing et al. 2007). On the other hand, the deletion of Pyk2 in mice leads to increased bone mass due to osteoclast defects. Interestingly, Pyk2 null osteoclast seeded on glass can not form a podosome belt because of increased basal RhoA activity. Podosome belt formation in Pyk2-/- osteoclasts can be restored by RhoA inhibition but not by a constitutively activated Src, despite its potential role in down regulating RhoA activity (Gil-Henn et al., 2007; Flevaris et al., 2007; Arthur et al., 2000; Fincham et al., 1999). Indeed, Pyk2 and Src may form a complex in which p190 RhoGAP is recruited, phosphorylated and activated in a Src-dependent manner (Arthur et al., 2000; Zrihan-Licht et al., 2000). It suggests that in osteoclasts seeded on glass, once activated, integrin $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ may spatially coordinate Src/Pyk2/RhoGAP multimolecular complexes, and Pyk2 may serve to localize GAPs correctly and control Src-dependent RhoA inactivation. Interestingly, recent findings have reported a Src-dependent interaction between RhoU and Pyk2 in porcine aortic endothelial cells (Ruusala and Aspentröm, 2007). In these cells, RhoU induces Pyk2- and Src-dependent stress fiber dissolution. RhoU binding to Pyk2 requires its proline rich region, but similarly to what we found (Ory et al., 2007), RhoU-dependent effects on the actin cytoskeleton also requires an intact effector binding site (Ruusala and Aspentröm, 2007).

Although $\alpha_v\beta_3$ appears to control RhoA and Rac activation in migrating osteoclasts, its function on matrix-dependent remodeling of podosomes is unlikely. Indeed, $\alpha_v\beta_3$ is in a lowaffinity state when localized around podosomes (Faccio et al., 2002). Upon activation, $\alpha_v\beta_3$ leaves podosome and redistributes to newly formed protrusions resembling lamellipodia (Faccio et al., 2002; 2003). There is thus a discrepancy between the sites of $\alpha_v\beta_3$ activity (and by extension RhoA) and the sites of podosome remodeling that is supposed to occur for osteoclasts to move. But, by still unclear mechanisms, $\alpha_v\beta_3$ –dependent RhoA activation may regulate other extracellular matrix receptors, which could have critical functions for podosome assembly and osteoclast migration. Osteopontin (OPN) is an extracellular matrix protein that can bind to both the hyaluronan receptor CD44 and $\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrin. OPN-deficient osteoclasts are hypomotile and defective in bone resorption, the amount of CD44 associated to the plasma membrane and exposed to the extracellular space is reduced (Chellaiah et al., 2003b). This may be due to reduced activation of the RhoA/ROCK pathway in absence of OPN secreted by osteoclasts (Chellaiah et al., 2003 a,b). Interestingly, OPN is sufficient to restore normal cell motility and bone resorption by OPN -/- osteoclast whereas vitronectin another ligand of $\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrin is not. In that context, OPN treatment stabilizes CD44 at the plasma membrane by activating the RhoA/ROCK pathway. This occurs through an $\alpha_v\beta_3$ – dependent pathway since ROCK activation is inhibited by a blocking antibody directed against $\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrins but not by one directed against CD44 (Chellaiah et al., 2003a,b). These experiments thus highlight a cross-talk between $\alpha_v\beta_3$ and CD44 signaling that remains to be better defined, but which may coordinate osteoclast migration and podosome rearrangement (see below).

WASp, a Cdc42 effector and a key organizer of podosomes

Rho GTPases mediate their effect through binding and activation of multiple effectors. Although little is known about most effectors of Rho GTPases in osteoclast biology, recent reports are pointing out to the Wiscott-Aldrich syndrom protein (WASp) as a key player in podosome organization of myeloid cells. WASp (expressed in hematopoietic tissues) and N-WASP (ubiquitous) contain several domains that regulate their activity and localization (for review, see Burns et al., 2004). By binding to Cdc42, to phosphatidyl inositol (4,5) bisphosphate (PI(4,5)P2) and to the actin nucleating Arp2/3 complex, WASP nucleates actin polymerization (Rohatgi et al., 1999). In macrophages from WAS patients in which WASp is truncated and not functional, podosome formation and macrophage chemotaxis are dramatically impaired (Zicha et al., 1998; Linder et al., 1999). Critical function of WASp is supported by analysis of dendritic cells or osteoclasts coming from WASp (Burns et al., 2001; Calle et al., 2004) and WIP (WASp interacting protein) null mice (Chou et al., 2006; Chabadel et al., 2007). As WIP binds and protects WASp from calpain-dependent degradation (de la Fuente et al., 2007), WASp expression levels are highly reduced in WIP null cells. The absence (WASp null cells) or reduced amounts (WIP null cells) of WASp protein result in defective podosome assembly. Recovery of normal WASp level by proteases inhibitors or, more surprisingly, by clustering of CD44 receptor, restores levels of WASp and normal

podosome formation (Chou et al., 2006; Chabadel et al., 2007). Interestingly, deletion of WIP only affects podosome core formation while the F-actin cloud is still present in osteoclasts (Chabadel et al., 2007). It thus defines two independent domains inside the podosome, the podosome core which coincides with the localization of actin polymerization regulating proteins (WASp, WIP, Arp2/3, gelsolin) and the F-actin cloud to which scaffolding proteins are recruited (paxillin, vinculin, talin).

Interestingly, OPN but not vitronectin is sufficient to restore normal podosome organization in WIP-/- osteoclasts suggesting that WASp function can be regulated by both the $\alpha_{\rm v}\beta_3$ integrins and CD44 (Chellaih, 2005; Chellaih et al., 2007; Chabadel et al., 2007). Indeed, OPN increases $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ -dependent activity of the RhoA/ROCK pathway and CD44 exposure to the plasma membrane. It suggests that OPN may indirectly stabilize WASp to locally regulate F-actin polymerization (Linder et al., 2000; Chellaiah, 2005). WASp activation and subsequent actin polymerization could be further facilitated by RhoAdependent formation of $PI(4,5)P_2$ that binds, activates and localizes WASp to podosomes in osteoclasts (Chellaiah, 2005). Thus, OPN may coordinate a functional network between $\alpha_{\rm v}\beta_3$, CD44 and RhoA to synchronize osteoclast migration and bone resorption. It would be interesting to analyze Rho GTPases signaling and podosome rearrangements induced by OPN in $\beta_3^{-/-}$ osteoclasts to better address signaling events that are CD44 dependent. Finally, whereas WASp-/- mice have increased bone mass due to defective osteoclasts (Calle et al., 2004), CD44-/- mice have no clear bone phenotype. However, they show increased bone loss in a model of TNF-dependent chronic inflammatory arthritis (Hayer et al., 2005). This indicates that CD44 is dispensable for normal osteoclast function but may have a regulatory function in inflammatory diseases.

Exchange factors and osteoclast biology

Rho GTPases can be potentially activated by 69 GEFs with Dbl homology domain (diffuse B-cell lymphoma oncogene; for review, see Rossman et al., 2005) and 11 GEFs with CZH domains (CDM-zizimin1 homology; for review see Meller et al., 2005). Vav proteins (Vav1, Vav2 and Vav3) belong to the Dbl family. Vav1 is mainly expressed in hematopoietic tissues whereas Vav2 and Vav3 have broader patterns of expression (for review see Turner and Billadeau, 2002). Gene targeting of Vav in mice revealed that Vav3 is crucial for osteoclast function. Vav3-/- mice have increased bone mass because of impaired resorptive

function of osteoclasts. In vitro, Vav3-/- cells show disrupted podosome belt which is correlated with defects in Rac or Src activation in response to M-CSF or adhesion to the extracellular matrix, respectively (Faccio et al., 2005).

By using DNA microarrays, we analyzed the expression profile of the 80 GEFs and found that 2 GEFs were upregulated during osteoclastogenesis, one from the Dbl family (Arhgef8/Net1) and the other one from the CZH family (Dock5). Knocking down the expression of Net1 or Dock5 in osteoclast precursors dramatically impairs formation of multinucleated cells indicating that these 2 GEFs are critical for osteoclast differentiation and/or function in vitro (Brazier et al., 2006). Interestingly, preventing the expression of Dock5 in zebrafish impairs myoblast fusion (Moore et al., 2007) indicating that Dock5 may be involved in the process of osteoclast fusion.

Finally, α PIX, an exchange factor for Rac and Cdc42, localizes to podosome cores in macrophages and regulates the arrangement and number of podosomes. The recruitment of α PIX requires binding to GIT1 and its function on podosome arrangement is dependent on a functional GEF domain (Gringel et al., 2006). GIT proteins (GIT1 and GIT2) possess Arf GAP activity and can bind to paxillin. In addition to their potential enzymatic activity on Rho and Arf GTPases, PIX and GIT proteins are essential to the recruitment of signaling complexes including Rac1 and PAK1. They also integrate signals from Src and FAK to regulate focal adhesion dynamics (Brown et al., 2005; ten Klooster et al., 2006). The multimolecular complex PIX-GIT-PAK may thus be important for regulating Rho GTPases and podosome organization in osteoclast.

Concluding remarks

Much progress has been made in understanding the arrangement of podosomes in osteoclasts, but many questions remain open, especially on how the sealing zone of osteoclasts is formed and regulated. It is now clear that Rho GTPases and mineralized matrix play a critical regulatory function in actin cytoskeleton organization of osteoclasts. However, how the mineralized matrix or mineral by itself may affect RhoGTPase activity and then osteoclast function is an open question. An emerging theme is that adhesion strength and substrate stiffness regulate cell migration and adhesion structure organization (de Rooij et al., 2005; Gupton and Waterman-Storer, 2006). In turn, cells adjust their internal stiffness to match that of their substrate (Solon et al., 2007). In fibroblasts, distribution and life span of podosomes is affected by substrate rigidity and increased stiffness favors the formation of individual podosomes (Collin et al., 2006). The chemical and mechanical properties of bone or bone-like matrix are likely to affect osteoclast adhesive properties by modifying Rho GTPases signaling cascades. For example, the ultrastructural organization of the sealing zone, which is encountered only on bone-like substrate, suggests that the compaction of podosome cores could be the result of a RhoA-dependent increase in contractility mediated by the actomyosin system that may connect podosome cores together. Spreading of osteoclasts following myosin inhibition by blebbistatin and high levels of activated RhoA in osteoclast maintained on bone-like substrate supports that hypothesis (Chabadel et al., 2007). This implies that RhoA has to be correctly localized and able to interact with its downstream effector ROCK. In addition, cytoskeletal tension and cell adhesion strength regulates RhoGTPase binding to their effector. Cells restrained in their spreading for instance display high RhoA but low ROCK activity (Bhadriraju et al., 2007). This suggests that mechanical properties of the substratum may impinge on RhoA signaling by preventing or restricting binding of the GTPase to a subset of downstream effectors. Thus, in order to better understand how Rho GTPases regulate podosome arrangement, we need to know where Rho GTPases are indeed activated in osteoclast and how efficient is the coupling of Rho GTPases with their downstream effectors.

Finally, the primary function of osteoclasts is to dissolve and resorb the mineralized matrix. This leads to high calcium concentration into the resorption lacunae. Part of the calcium is eliminated by transcytosis (Berger et al., 2001) but the inner part of the sealing zone is exposed to high calcium concentration as compared to the outer part. Many proteins critical for podosome organization are regulated by calcium. For example, Pyk2 can be

activated by calcium (Sanjay et al., 2001) and calpains are Ca2+-dependent proteases critical for osteoclasts function (Marzia et al., 2006) that may cleave β 3 integrin (Flevaris et al., 2007), RhoA (Kulkarni et al., 2002), Pyk2 (Marzia et al., 2006) and WASp (de la Fuente et al., 2007). Change in calcium concentration affects podosome organization of osteoclast (Miyauchi et al., 1990) and knocking out the calcium transporter TRPV5 generates inactive osteoclasts (van der Eedern et al., 2005). It would thus be interesting to evaluate the consequences of change in calcium concentration during bone resorption on Rho GTPase signaling and how this may affect podosome arrangement.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by institutional grants (Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique), the Association pour la Recherche sur le Cancer (grants 3476 and 3897) and the Association de Recherche sur la Polyarthrite. HB is a recipient of a fellowship from the Association pour la Recherche sur le Cancer.

References

Abo A, Qu J, Cammarano MS, Dan C, Fritsch A, Baud V, Belisle B, Minden A (1998) PAK4, a novel effector for Cdc42Hs, is implicated in the reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton and in the formation of filopodia. EMBO J 17: 6527-6540

Aktories K, Barbieri JT (2005) Bacterial cytotoxins: targeting eukaryotic switches. Nat Rev Microbiol 3: 397-410

Berger CE, Rathod H, Gillespie JI, Horrocks BR, Datta HK (2001) Scanning electrochemical microscopy at the surface of bone-resorbing osteoclasts: evidence for steady-state disposal and intracellular functional compartmentalization of calcium. J Bone Miner Res 16: 2092-2102

Berzat AC, Buss JE, Chenette EJ, Weinbaum CA, Shutes A, Der CJ, Minden A, Cox AD (2005) Transforming activity of the Rho family GTPase, Wrch-1, a Wnt-regulated Cdc42 homolog, is dependent on a novel carboxyl-terminal palmitoylation motif. J Biol Chem 280: 33055-33065

Bhadriraju K, Yang M, Alom Ruiz S, Pirone D, Tan J, Chen CS (2007) Activation of ROCK by RhoA is regulated by cell adhesion, shape, and cytoskeletal tension. Exp Cell Res 313: 3616-3623

Boureux A, Vignal E, Faure S, Fort P (2007) Evolution of the Rho family of ras-like GTPases in eukaryotes. Mol Biol Evol 24: 203-216

Brazier H, Stephens S, Ory S, Fort P, Morrison N, Blangy A (2006) Expression profile of RhoGTPases and RhoGEFs during RANKL-stimulated osteoclastogenesis: identification of essential genes in osteoclasts. J Bone Miner Res 21: 1387-1398

Brown MC, Cary LA, Jamieson JS, Cooper JA, Turner CE (2005) Src and FAK kinases cooperate to phosphorylate paxillin kinase linker, stimulate its focal adhesion localization, and regulate cell spreading and protrusiveness. Mol Biol Cell 16: 4316-4328

Burns S, Cory GO, Vainchenker W, Thrasher AJ (2004) Mechanisms of WASp-mediated hematologic and immunologic disease. Blood 104: 3454-3462

Burns S, Thrasher AJ, Blundell MP, Machesky L, Jones GE (2001) Configuration of human dendritic cell cytoskeleton by Rho GTPases, the WAS protein, and differentiation. Blood 98: 1142-1149

Burridge K, Wennerberg K (2004) Rho and Rac take center stage. Cell 116: 167-179

Butler B, Blystone SD (2005) Tyrosine phosphorylation of beta3 integrin provides a binding site for Pyk2. J Biol Chem 280: 14556-14562

Calle Y, Carragher NO, Thrasher AJ, Jones GE (2006) Inhibition of calpain stabilises podosomes and impairs dendritic cell motility. J Cell Sci 119: 2375-2385

Calle Y, Jones GE, Jagger C, Fuller K, Blundell MP, Chow J, Chambers T, Thrasher AJ (2004) WASp deficiency in mice results in failure to form osteoclast sealing zones and defects in bone resorption. Blood 103: 3552-3561

Chabadel A, Banon-Rodriguez I, Cluet D, Rudkin BB, Wehrle-Haller B, Genot E, Jurdic P, Anton IM, Saltel F (2007) CD44 and beta3 Integrin Organize Two Functionally Distinct Actin-based Domains in Osteoclasts. Mol Biol Cell 18: 4899-4910

Chellaiah MA (2005) Regulation of actin ring formation by rho GTPases in osteoclasts. J Biol Chem 280: 32930-32943

Chellaiah MA, Biswas RS, Rittling SR, Denhardt DT, Hruska KA (2003a) Rho-dependent Rho kinase activation increases CD44 surface expression and bone resorption in osteoclasts. J Biol Chem 278: 29086-29097

Chellaiah MA, Kizer N, Biswas R, Alvarez U, Strauss-Schoenberger J, Rifas L, Rittling SR, Denhardt DT, Hruska KA (2003b) Osteopontin deficiency produces osteoclast dysfunction due to reduced CD44 surface expression. Mol Biol Cell 14: 173-189

Chellaiah MA, Soga N, Swanson S, McAllister S, Alvarez U, Wang D, Dowdy SF, Hruska KA (2000) Rho-A is critical for osteoclast podosome organization, motility, and bone resorption. J Biol Chem 275: 11993-12002

Ching YP, Leong VY, Wong CM, Kung HF (2003) Identification of an autoinhibitory domain of p21-activated protein kinase 5. J Biol Chem 278: 33621-33624

Chou HC, Anton IM, Holt MR, Curcio C, Lanzardo S, Worth A, Burns S, Thrasher AJ, Jones GE, Calle Y (2006) WIP regulates the stability and localization of WASP to podosomes in migrating dendritic cells. Curr Biol 16: 2337-2344

Chuang YY, Valster A, Coniglio SJ, Backer JM, Symons M (2007) The atypical Rho family GTPase Wrch-1 regulates focal adhesion formation and cell migration. J Cell Sci 120: 1927-1934

Collin O, Tracqui P, Stephanou A, Usson Y, Clement-Lacroix J, Planus E (2006) Spatiotemporal dynamics of actin-rich adhesion microdomains: influence of substrate flexibility. J Cell Sci 119: 1914-1925

David-Pfeuty T, Singer SJ (1980) Altered distributions of the cytoskeletal proteins vinculin and alpha-actinin in cultured fibroblasts transformed by Rous sarcoma virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77: 6687-6691

de la Fuente MA, Sasahara Y, Calamito M, Anton IM, Elkhal A, Gallego MD, Suresh K, Siminovitch K, Ochs HD, Anderson KC, Rosen FS, Geha RS, Ramesh N (2007) WIP is a chaperone for Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 926-931

del Pozo MA, Price LS, Alderson NB, Ren XD, Schwartz MA (2000) Adhesion to the extracellular matrix regulates the coupling of the small GTPase Rac to its effector PAK. The EMBO journal 19: 2008-2014

de Rooij J, Kerstens A, Danuser G, Schwartz MA, Waterman-Storer CM (2005) Integrindependent actomyosin contraction regulates epithelial cell scattering. J Cell Biol 171: 153-164

Destaing O, Saltel F, Geminard JC, Jurdic P, Bard F (2003) Podosomes display actin turnover and dynamic self-organization in osteoclasts expressing actin-green fluorescent protein. Mol Biol Cell 14: 407-416

Destaing O, Saltel F, Gilquin B, Chabadel A, Khochbin S, Ory S, Jurdic P (2005) A novel Rho-mDia2-HDAC6 pathway controls podosome patterning through microtubule acetylation in osteoclasts. J Cell Sci 118: 2901-2911

Destaing O, Sanjay A, Itzstein C, Horne WC, Toomre D, Camilli PD, Baron R (2007) The Tyrosine Kinase Activity of c-Src Regulates Actin Dynamics and Organization of Podosomes in Osteoclasts. Mol Biol Cell

Duong LT, Lakkakorpi PT, Nakamura I, Machwate M, Nagy RM, Rodan GA (1998) PYK2 in osteoclasts is an adhesion kinase, localized in the sealing zone, activated by ligation of alpha(v)beta3 integrin, and phosphorylated by src kinase. The Journal of clinical investigation 102: 881-892

Faccio R, Novack DV, Zallone A, Ross FP, Teitelbaum SL (2003) Dynamic changes in the osteoclast cytoskeleton in response to growth factors and cell attachment are controlled by beta3 integrin. J Cell Biol 162: 499-509

Faccio R, Teitelbaum SL, Fujikawa K, Chappel J, Zallone A, Tybulewicz VL, Ross FP, Swat W (2005) Vav3 regulates osteoclast function and bone mass. Nature medicine 11: 284-290

Fincham VJ, Chudleigh A, Frame MC (1999) Regulation of p190 Rho-GAP by v-Src is linked to cytoskeletal disruption during transformation. J Cell Sci 112 (Pt 6): 947-956

Flevaris P, Stojanovic A, Gong H, Chishti A, Welch E, Du X (2007) A molecular switch that controls cell spreading and retraction. J Cell Biol 179: 553-565

Fukata M, Nakagawa M, Kaibuchi K (2003) Roles of Rho-family GTPases in cell polarisation and directional migration. Curr Opin Cell Biol 15: 590-597

Gil-Henn H, Destaing O, Sims NA, Aoki K, Alles N, Neff L, Sanjay A, Bruzzaniti A, De Camilli P, Baron R, Schlessinger J (2007) Defective microtubule-dependent podosome organization in osteoclasts leads to increased bone density in Pyk2(-/-) mice. J Cell Biol 178: 1053-1064

Gringel A, Walz D, Rosenberger G, Minden A, Kutsche K, Kopp P, Linder S (2006) PAK4 and alphaPIX determine podosome size and number in macrophages through localized actin regulation. J Cell Physiol 209: 568-579

Gupton SL, Waterman-Storer CM (2006) Spatiotemporal feedback between actomyosin and focal-adhesion systems optimizes rapid cell migration. Cell 125: 1361-1374

Hayer S, Steiner G, Gortz B, Reiter E, Tohidast-Akrad M, Amling M, Hoffmann O, Redlich K, Zwerina J, Skriner K, Hilberg F, Wagner EF, Smolen JS, Schett G (2005) CD44 is a determinant of inflammatory bone loss. J Exp Med 201: 903-914

Jaffer ZM, Chernoff J (2002) p21-activated kinases: three more join the Pak. J Biol Chem 34: 713-717

Jurdic P, Saltel F, Chabadel A, Destaing O (2006) Podosome and sealing zone: specificity of the osteoclast model. Eur J Cell Biol 85: 195-202

Kulkarni S, Goll DE, Fox JE (2002) Calpain cleaves RhoA generating a dominant-negative form that inhibits integrin-induced actin filament assembly and cell spreading. Int J Biol Chem Cell Biol 277: 24435-24441

Linder S (2007) The matrix corroded: podosomes and invadopodia in extracellular matrix degradation. Trends Cell Biol 17: 107-117

Linder S, Aepfelbacher M (2003) Podosomes: adhesion hot-spots of invasive cells. Trends Cell Biol 13: 376-385

Linder S, Higgs H, Hufner K, Schwarz K, Pannicke U, Aepfelbacher M (2000) The polarization defect of Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome macrophages is linked to dislocalization of the Arp2/3 complex. J Immunol 165: 221-225

Linder S, Nelson D, Weiss M, Aepfelbacher M (1999) Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein regulates podosomes in primary human macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 9648-9653

Luxenburg C, Geblinger D, Klein E, Anderson K, Hanein D, Geiger B, Addadi L (2007) The architecture of the adhesive apparatus of cultured osteoclasts: from podosome formation to sealing zone assembly. PLoS ONE 2: e179

Marchisio PC, Cirillo D, Naldini L, Primavera MV, Teti A, Zambonin-Zallone A (1984) Cellsubstratum interaction of cultured avian osteoclasts is mediated by specific adhesion structures. J Cell Biol 99: 1696-1705

Marzia M, Chiusaroli R, Neff L, Kim NY, Chishti AH, Baron R, Horne WC (2006) Calpain is required for normal osteoclast function and is down-regulated by calcitonin. J Biol Chem 281: 9745-9754

Meller N, Merlot S, Guda C (2005) CZH proteins: a new family of Rho-GEFs. J Cell Sci 118: 4937-4946

Miyauchi A, Hruska KA, Greenfield EM, Duncan R, Alvarez J, Barattolo R, Colucci S, Zambonin-Zallone A, Teitelbaum SL, Teti A (1990) Osteoclast cytosolic calcium, regulated by voltage-gated calcium channels and extracellular calcium, controls podosome assembly and bone resorption. J Cell Biol 111: 2543-2552

Moore CA, Parkin CA, Bidet Y, Ingham PW (2007) A role for the Myoblast city homologues Dock1 and Dock5 and the adaptor proteins Crk and Crk-like in zebrafish myoblast fusion. Development 134: 3145-3153

Ory S, Brazier H, Blangy A (2007) Identification of a bipartite focal adhesion localization signal in RhoU/Wrch-1, a Rho family GTPase that regulates cell adhesion and migration. Biol Cell 99: 701-716

Ory S, Munari-Silem Y, Fort P, Jurdic P (2000) Rho and Rac exert antagonistic functions on spreading of macrophage-derived multinucleated cells and are not required for actin fiber formation. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 7): 1177-1188

Pfaff M, Jurdic P (2001) Podosomes in osteoclast-like cells: structural analysis and cooperative roles of paxillin, proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 (Pyk2) and integrin alphaVbeta3. J Cell Sci 114: 2775-2786

Ponta H, Sherman L, Herrlich PA (2003) CD44: from adhesion molecules to signalling regulators. Nature reviews 4: 33-45

Raftopoulou M, Hall A (2004) Cell migration: Rho GTPases lead the way. Dev Biol 265: 23-32

Ren XD, Kiosses WB, Schwartz MA (1999) Regulation of the small GTP-binding protein Rho by cell adhesion and the cytoskeleton. EMBO J 18: 578-585

Rohatgi R, Ma L, Miki H, Lopez M, Kirchhausen T, Takenawa T, Kirschner MW (1999) The interaction between N-WASP and the Arp2/3 complex links Cdc42-dependent signals to actin assembly. Cell 97: 221-231

Ross FP, Teitelbaum SL (2005) alphavbeta3 and macrophage colony-stimulating factor: partners in osteoclast biology. Immunological reviews 208: 88-105

Rossman KL, Der CJ, Sondek J (2005) GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. Nature reviews 6: 167-180

Ruusala A, Aspenstrom P (2007) The atypical Rho GTPase Wrch1 collaborates with the non-receptor tyrosine kinases Pyk2 and Src in regulating cytoskeletal dynamics. Mol Cell Biol

Saltel F, Destaing O, Bard F, Eichert D, Jurdic P (2004) Apatite-mediated actin dynamics in resorbing osteoclasts. Mol Biol Cell 15: 5231-5241

Sanjay A, Houghton A, Neff L, DiDomenico E, Bardelay C, Antoine E, Levy J, Gailit J, Bowtell D, Horne WC, Baron R (2001) Cbl associates with Pyk2 and Src to regulate Src kinase activity, alpha(v)beta(3) integrin-mediated signaling, cell adhesion, and osteoclast motility. J Cell Biol 152: 181-195

Saras J, Wollberg P, Aspenstrom P (2004) Wrch1 is a GTPase-deficient Cdc42-like protein with unusual binding characteristics and cellular effects. Exp Cell Res 299: 356-369

Shutes A, Berzat AC, Cox AD, Der CJ (2004) Atypical mechanism of regulation of the Wrch-1 Rho family small GTPase. Curr Biol 14: 2052-2056 Solon J, Levental I, Sengupta K, Georges PC, Janmey PA (2007) Fibroblast adaptation and stiffness matching to soft elastic substrates. Biophys J 93: 4453-4461

Soriano P, Montgomery C, Geske R, Bradley A (1991) Targeted disruption of the c-src protooncogene leads to osteopetrosis in mice. Cell 64: 693-702

Tarone G, Cirillo D, Giancotti FG, Comoglio PM, Marchisio PC (1985) Rous sarcoma virustransformed fibroblasts adhere primarily at discrete protrusions of the ventral membrane called podosomes. Exp Cell Res 159: 141-157

ten Klooster JP, Jaffer ZM, Chernoff J, Hordijk PL (2006) Targeting and activation of Rac1 are mediated by the exchange factor beta-Pix. J Cell Biol 172: 759-769

Turner M, Billadeau DD (2002) VAV proteins as signal integrators for multi-subunit immune-recognition receptors. Nat Rev Immunol 2: 476-486

van der Eerden BC, Hoenderop JG, de Vries TJ, Schoenmaker T, Buurman CJ, Uitterlinden AG, Pols HA, Bindels RJ, van Leeuwen JP (2005) The epithelial Ca2+ channel TRPV5 is essential for proper osteoclastic bone resorption. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 17507-17512

Wells CM, Abo A, Ridley AJ (2002) PAK4 is activated via PI3K in HGF-stimulated epithelial cells. J Cell Sci 115: 3947-3956

Zhang D, Udagawa N, Nakamura I, Murakami H, Saito S, Yamasaki K, Shibasaki Y, Morii N, Narumiya S, Takahashi N, et al. (1995) The small GTP-binding protein, rho p21, is involved in bone resorption by regulating cytoskeletal organization in osteoclasts. J Cell Sci 108 (Pt 6): 2285-2292

Zhao ZS, Manser E (2005) PAK and other Rho-associated kinases--effectors with surprisingly diverse mechanisms of regulation. Biochem J 386: 201-214

Zicha D, Allen WE, Brickell PM, Kinnon C, Dunn GA, Jones GE, Thrasher AJ (1998) Chemotaxis of macrophages is abolished in the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Br J Haematol 101: 659-665

Zrihan-Licht S, Fu Y, Settleman J, Schinkmann K, Shaw L, Keydar I, Avraham S, Avraham H (2000) RAFTK/Pyk2 tyrosine kinase mediates the association of p190 RhoGAP with RasGAP and is involved in breast cancer cell invasion. Oncogene 19: 1318-1328

Figure legends

Schematic representation of podosome arrangements in osteoclasts. When seeded on glass, podosomes can assemble into clusters, podosome rings or a podosome belt. The density of podosome cores in each structure is depicted in the rectangle. The maximum density is achieved in the sealing zone, when osteoclasts are seeded on bone. RhoA controls podosome arrangement and RhoA activation is maximal on bone. Whereas the podosome belt can form at minimal RhoA activity on either glass or bone, the sealing zone only assembles on mineralized matrix. RhoA activation on glass results in podosome ring or cluster formation indicating that mineralized matrix may provide an additional signal for osteoclasts to form a sealing zone.



- podosome core (F-actin, CD44, WASp, Arp2/3, cortactin, gelsolin)
- Integrin b3, vinculin, talin, paxillin

F-actin cloud, myosin